STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Creech is in the business of selling hay and straw to farms, particularly those in the horse industry, in Kentucky and all over the world. Brown worked for Creech for approximately eighteen (18) years. (Record on Appeal ("R.A." at 230-233 (Brown Aff.)). In that capacity, Brown obtained confidential information regarding Creech's customers, including names, contacts at various farms, office and cell phone numbers, suppliers, supplier prices, customer prices, and, perhaps most importantly, unique customer supply needs and desires. As part of his job duties, he had personal contacts and rapport with Creech's customers. (R.A. at 14-16 (Creech Aff.), Appx. 3).

In the lower Courts, certain critical facts surrounding this dispute have been repeatedly misrepresented by Standlee and Brown. This case does not, as Standlee and Brown have urged, concern an unskilled, untrained employee who was pressured into signing a non-compete agreement and was then demoted and forever barred from the hay industry. Although the record is limited due to the Circuit Court's dismissal of this action before any meaningful discovery could be conducted, the evidence gathered thus far reflects that Creech's long-time, trusted and well-trained employee was hired by Creech's competitor (arriving into the Kentucky market) for the sole purpose of obtaining Creech's proprietary information and customer base, all in violation of a non-competition/nondisclosure agreement that was supported by consideration and that was properly limited to Kentucky by the Circuit Court¹.

In July 2006, Brown executed a "Conflicts of Interest Agreement" ("the Agreement") with Creech (R.A. at 8; Appx. 5). The Agreement contained both non-

¹ To assist the Court and for its convenience in appreciating the testimony in the record from the hearings, we have included the audio/video of the various 2009 trial court hearings on a CD attached at Appx. 4.

<u>competition</u> and <u>non-disclosure</u> obligations. Those obligations were interconnected and overlapping:

The company requires that all employees strive to avoid any situation, which does or may involve a conflict between their personal interest and the interests of the company . . .

The following listing will serve as a guide to the types of activity which might cause conflicts of interest:

- Providing information, including but not limited to names, locations, types of purchases, contact names, or contact information about any of the company's customers, employees or suppliers with or without compensation without management's consent, or sharing any such information with anyone outside the company, especially with competitors or potential customers.
- Directive, managerial or consultative services performed with or without compensation to any customer, supplier, or other outside concern which does business with or is a competitor of the company.
- Competition with the company by an employee, directly or indirectly in the purchase or sale of products or services or property rights or interests either during employment or after leaving the company.

(R.A. at 8, Appx. 5 (emphasis added)). The Agreement further provides:

All proprietary information will be held in strict confidence. As an employee of Creech, Inc., you will have access to sensitive company, customer and supplier information. Such information has been obtained through the over 25 years that the company has been in business and is, therefore, the property of Creech, Inc. If at any time, either during employment or after leaving the company, you share such information with competitors of other third parties, Creech, Inc. reserves the right to pursue all legal avenues to recoup damages as well as legal fees accrued in such legal action from the employee or former employee.

The industries that Creech, Inc. operates within are highly competitive. We require that all employees agree and understand that after leaving the company they are not permitted to work for any other company that directly or indirectly competes with the company for 3 years after leaving Creech, Inc., without the companies [sic] consent.

(Id. (emphasis added)). Brown signed the Agreement in consideration of his continued employment with Creech. (Id., see also R.A. 14, Appx. 3 (Creech February 12, 2009, Affidavit), ¶ 8)).

Creech sought and obtained a temporary injunction enforcing the Agreement within the geographical area of Kentucky. Thus, the Circuit Court found that Creech had a substantial claim on the merits as to the enforceability of the Agreement under Kentucky law.

Throughout this litigation, Brown and Standlee have argued that Creech failed to produce evidence that Brown obtained specialized training and confidential information from Creech. Again setting aside the reality that summary judgment was entered before discovery could be completed, this representation is simply incorrect. By executing the Agreement, Brown expressly acknowledged his access to "sensitive company, customer and supplier information" within a highly competitive field. (R.A. at 9 (Appx. 5)). Brown rose through the ranks at Creech, holding positions as driver, dispatcher, and salesperson. (R.A. 14, Appx. 3 (Creech February 12, 2009, Affidavit, ¶ 4). He obtained confidential information about customer needs. (Id., ¶ 5). Creech invested its resources in Brown, and entrusted him with highly proprietary information. (See also, Creech April 22, 2009, Affidavit, Appx. 3).

Similarly, Brown and Standlee have repeatedly misstated that Brown was demoted after he signed the Agreement. This is a fabrication. Brown's salary did not

² Because this action was dismissed before any substantive discovery could be conducted, the Record on Appeal is necessarily limited. On remand, Creech will show that Brown began work at Creech as a truck driver, was trained in operating industrial-sized balers, and then was promoted into a sales position. Contrary to the picture painted by Brown and Standlee on the limited record, Brown did not bring expertise or skill into his employment with Creech. Instead, Creech invested substantially in Brown.

change after he signed the Agreement, and Brown has offered no evidence to the contrary.

There should also be no misunderstanding as to the manner in which Brown's employment with Creech ended. This is not a case in which an employer insisted that an employee sign a harsh non-compete agreement and then abruptly terminated him. In this case, and two years after signing the Agreement, Brown voluntarily chose to quit his job with Creech to take a "sales position" with Standlee. (R.A. at 232 (Brown Affidavit, ¶ 18). Standlee³ and Creech are competitors. (R.A. at 15, Appx. 3 (Creech February 12, 2009, Affidavit, ¶ 12)).

Brown affirmatively misled Creech as to the nature of his employment with Standlee: prior to leaving, Brown represented to Creech's president, Charles T. Creech ("Mr. Creech") that he did not intend to call on private farms and/or existing customers of Creech. (R.A. at 10-11). He told Mr. Creech that, instead, he would be calling only on "Big Box" stores (such as Walmart, Home Depot, or Tractor Supply Company) on behalf of Standlee.

Based solely and contingent upon that representation, Creech (by counsel) sent the following letter to Brown:

Based on the statements you made to Charles T. Creech, Inc., we understand that the work you will be doing for Standlee Hay Company will not be related to those pursuits of Standlee Hay Company which are in competition with the interests of Charles T. Creech, Inc.

³ Standlee is based on the West Coast. During a hearing before the Circuit Court, Standlee's counsel stated that its operations in Kentucky had been "going now for five months" (R.A. Certified copy of video hearings, 4/30/09, 22/9/09 CD 57 1:56:18-3:32:31 at 2:41:09). Interestingly, according to the Kentucky Secretary of State's filings, Standlee Hay Company, Inc. did not register to do business in Kentucky until April 26, 2012. See Appx 16. As noted below, Standlee's decision to hire Brown was part of its "substantial investment" in moving into the Kentucky hay market. Hiring Brown was clearly a critical part of Standlee's plan to take control of Creech's share of the Kentucky market.

(R.A. at 10-11 (Appx. 6) (emphasis added)). The letter further stated: "[b]ased on the representations made by you," Creech was willing to permit Brown's employment with Standlee. (*Id.* (emphasis added)). Standlee's and Brown's repeated attempt to transform this letter into some type of waiver on the part of Creech is completely irreconcilable with its language.

Through its attorney, Standlee responded (but not Brown) by letter dated November 17, 2008, which expressed Standlee's "intent [] for Mr. Brown to act as a salesman" and stated that "[t]here is no doubt that in the course of this Mr. Brown may well contact people who have previously been customers of [Creech]." (R.A. at 12-13, Appx. 7). The letter further represented as a "fact" that "Mr. Brown will, without question, at some time or other be contacting your client's customers" (*Id.*). Brown never specifically responded to the letter from Creech's counsel.

Confronted with the letter from Standlee's counsel, which directly contradicted Brown's assurances to Mr. Creech, Creech filed a Complaint for injunctive relief and damages against Brown and Standlee for breach of the Agreement, intentional interference with Creech's contractual rights, Standlee's aiding and abetting of Brown's breach of contract, intentional interference with current and prospective business contracts, and fraud in the inducement. Neither the Complaint nor any other pleading identified breach of the Agreement's nondisclosure obligation as a "count" or "claim" separate or distinguishable from the other obligations contained within the Agreement (such as the non-competition obligation). Instead, Counts II through IV of the Complaint were based upon Brown's breach of the Agreement in its entirety, and those Counts were based upon both the nondisclosure and the non-competition obligations.

With its Complaint, Creech also filed a Motion for Temporary Injunction, which asked that Brown be enjoined according to the terms of the Agreement as written. (R.A. 20-29; see also R.A. 153, Addendum). Finding the geographic scope of the Agreement to be overly broad, the Court denied Creech's initial Motion. (R.A. copy of video hearings, 3/18/2009, 22-0-09 CD #37 10:01:54 (Appx. 4)).

Creech then sought and obtained permission to file an Amended Complaint, as well as a second Motion for Temporary Injunction based upon the Amended Complaint. (R.A. 88, Motion for Leave to File Amended Complaint; R.A. 169, Order granting leave (Appx. 8); R.A. 235-243, Amended Complaint; R.A. 127-146, Motion for Temporary Injunction). The Amended Complaint asserted the same Counts against Standlee and Brown (and, again, made no distinction between breaches of the non-competition language and the nondisclosure language of the Agreement), but, like the renewed Motion for Temporary Injunction, asked the Court to exercise its equitable power to modify the non-compete language to enjoin Brown from contacting Creech's current customers and to enforce the nondisclosure clauses in the Agreement.

At the hearing on Creech's second Motion for Temporary Injunction, both parties provided evidence and testimony about the scope of Creech's business interests within Kentucky, Standlee's new business interests in Kentucky, and the role that Standlee expected Brown to play within Kentucky.⁴ Standlee's counsel informed the Court that

⁴ Some of that evidence concerned the proprietary nature of the identities of Creech's customers. Standlee and Brown have repeatedly argued that <u>customers</u> can be identified through the *Thoroughbred Farm Managers' Club Directory*, and so that information cannot be deemed proprietary or confidential. There is no evidence in the record, however, suggesting that the Directory will inform a salesperson about a farm's hay preferences, volume needs, or pricing structure or personal preferences. There is no evidence that the Directory identifies those farms that will and will not be prime customers for a hay supplier. Likewise, on the <u>supplier</u> or source side for Creech, a competitor cannot obtain specific information about Creech's suppliers by looking at a listing of the members of the National Hay Association. The proprietary and confidential information related to Creech's suppliers can only come from inside Creech's organization and

Standlee had made a "very substantial investment" in its Kentucky operations. (R.A. copy of video hearings, 4/30/09, 22/9/09 CD 57 1:56:18-3:32:31 at 2:08-33 (Appx. 4)). Standlee had leased rail cars and a warehouse within the Commonwealth. (Id.). Brown was plainly part of that "very substantial investment": Standlee's corporate representative stated under oath that, if Brown was enjoined from working as a salesperson in Kentucky, Standlee would have to "seriously consider" discontinuing his employment because "that's what he was specifically hired to do" - "to sell hay and purchase hay and to hit all the farm accounts and all the tracks" in Kentucky. (Id. at 3:13:01). Mr. Standlee further testified that Brown was hired "to specifically target all the farms" in the counties contiguous to Fayette County. (Id. at 3:15:30). Also before the Court at the time of the hearing was Mr. Creech's February 12, 2009 Affidavit, which averred that "multiple customers of Creech [] have reported to me Brown's effort to solicit their business away from Creech" and "I have witnessed Standlee hay now at a current Creech customer's farm". (R.A. 15, Appx. 3, ¶¶ 15, 17; see also, Creech April 22, 2009, Affidavit, Appx. 3). Yet, Standlee did not register to do business in Kentucky with the Secretary of State until 2012. (Appx. 16).

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Bunnell found the Agreement to be enforceable, although she imposed a geographical limitation upon the non-compete obligation by including the word "Kentucky" within that provision. (*Id.* at 3:26:26:-3:28:00). An Order establishing a temporary injunction consistent with the Judge's findings at the hearing was entered on May 5, 2009. (R.A. 244-250, Appx. 9).

by improperly taking such information. These issues were addressed at the hearings (Appx. 4) as well as through several affidavits filed in the record. (Appx. 3). The affidavits also provided specifics about Standlee and Brown stealing business from Creech and how it was only possible to do that based upon the wrongful taking and use of Creech's proprietary and confidential business information.

Following that ruling, both Brown and Standlee filed Notices of Appeal from the temporary injunction, despite the interlocutory nature of that Order. Those appeals were dismissed.

Brown (but not Standlee) also filed a Motion for interlocutory relief under CR 65.07. The Court of Appeals granted that Motion on July 7, 2009 (R.A. 380), and then entered a Corrected Order on July 10, 2009. (R.A. 388, Appx. 10). Judge Van Meter concluded that the Circuit Court had abused its discretion by imposing a geographic limitation upon the Agreement, that the Agreement was unreasonable because it was presented to Brown years after he began his employment, and that there was insufficient evidence to establish that Brown had acquired confidential and proprietary information while he worked for Creech. (R.A. 388-396, Appx. 10). Judge Van Meter characterized the Agreement as an unenforceable "contract in restraint of trade," despite the fact that Brown chose to leave his employment with Creech and despite the fact that the Circuit Court had limited any "restraint" to the geographical limits of Kentucky.

After the Court of Appeals ruling – which did nothing more or less than vacate the interlocutory temporary injunction – Creech attempted to conduct discovery on its claims. Standlee partially answered a first set of Interrogatories and Requests propounded by Creech; Brown refused to do so.

While a Motion to Compel Brown's responses to Creech's discovery requests was pending (R.A. 691), and before any depositions had been taken in the case, Standlee and Brown moved for summary judgment based upon the argument that the Court of Appeals

⁵ In neither Order did Judge Van Meter address Creech's argument that Brown's CR 65.07 Motion was filed too late. Creech's request for relief on this point was simply "denied" by the corrected Order of July 10, 2009. The Court of Appeals' refusal to even consider the argument that the CR 65.07 Motion was untimely is in marked contrast to its highly technical application of CR 76.12(4)(c)(iv) to Creech's appellate brief, discussed below.

CR 65.07 Order was binding upon the Circuit Court and that there had been "no change in Kentucky law since the entry of the Court of Appeals' corrected order." Believing itself to be bound by Judge Van Meter's ruling on Brown's CR 65.07 Motion (the Judge characterized Judge Van Meter's Order as a "directive"), the Circuit Court granted the Defendants' Motion(s) and entered summary judgment in their favor. (R.A. copy of video hearings, 2/4/2011, 22-9-11 CD # 19 8:55-8:56 (Appx. 4; see also Appx. 11⁶)). The Order granting summary judgment to Defendants, entered on April 11, 2011, contains no specific findings or conclusions. (R.A. 877, Appx. 11). The nondisclosure obligation and the non-competition obligation contained within the Agreement were not separately analyzed. Instead, Judge Bunnell simply found that Judge Van Meter's CR 65.07 Order was dispositive of the entire case on its merits.

Creech then filed a Notice of Appeal of the entry of summary judgment on April 4, 2011. Judge Van Meter, who had made the ruling that the Circuit Court considered to

⁶ Multiple orders were tendered and entered, including one erroneously styled as "agreed." The end result is simply that all Creech's claims were dismissed without discussion because of the "directive" noted in the footnote below.

⁷ Judge Bunnell's ruling (which was quoted in Creech's brief, with citation (Brief, p. 9 (citing R.A. Certified copy of video hearings, 2/4/2011, 22-9-11 CD # 19 8:55-8:56)) was:

I still think I was right . . . but I thought they [the Court of Appeals] did a thorough job of explaining why they respectfully disagreed with me.

Mr. Pisacano, I do agree that I could keep going forward, but I don't think they could have been any more clear as to their interpretation of that agreement and as such I will follow what they have told me in this case . . . In this case, I will follow their directive and I do believe that based upon their ruling that it would be insufficient to go forward on the other claims. I don't think there's a basis for the other claims. But that's only because of what they told me because I-I still thought the other stuff was pretty good . . . I don't think they could have been any more clear. They were pretty clear. Based upon their opinion — and I kind of thought maybe you all had just gone away . . . I now sustain the motion, and totally based upon the Court of Appeals' directive to me.

Id. (emphasis added).

be dispositive, was assigned as a member of the three-Judge panel by the Court of Appeals. Because Judge Van Meter's CR 65.07 Order expressed his clear conclusion that Creech's claims were not able to succeed on the merits, and because that Order had then formed the sole basis for the Circuit Court's entry of summary judgment, Creech filed a Motion with the Court of Appeals asking Judge Van Meter to recuse himself from the panel. (Motion for Recusal of Judge VanMeter and for Oral Arguments, filed December 2, 2011, and Order denying entered February 7, 2012, Appx. 12). That Motion was summarily denied.

Creech's brief with the Court of Appeals (Appx. 13) argued (with citations to the record) that summary judgment should be reversed based upon the following Circuit Court errors⁸:

- The Court of Appeals' "July 7, 2009 Order granting Brown's Motion for CR 65.07 relief was not binding upon the Circuit Court's adjudication of the merits of the case" (Brief, pp. 7-8 (Appx. 13));
- Contrary to the arguments presented in Standlee's Motion for Summary
 Judgment, the Agreement was supported by consideration (Brief, p. 8
 (citing Standlee's Memorandum in support of Motion for Summary
 Judgment at R.A. 652 (Appx. 13));
- As confirmed by a decision entered a few months after the CR 65.07
 Order (Kegel v. Tillotson, 297 S.W.3d 908 (Ky. App. 2009)⁹), the Circuit
 Court had discretion to impose a reasonable geographic limitation on the non-competition obligation (Brief, pp. 10-16 (Appx. 13));

⁸ Creech's brief to the Court of Appeals is attached (without attachments) as Appx. 13.

⁹ A copy of the Kegel case is attached at Appx. 14.

- Contrary to the "Appellees' alternative argument" in support of their summary judgment motions, Creech did not waive its rights under the Agreement (id., p. 16); and
- The Circuit Court's entry of summary judgment was premature because it did not afford Creech the opportunity to conduct discovery (*id.*, p. 17). On this point of error, Creech's brief states:

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