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

to ignore that it failed to address alleged errors in its appellant brief⁴, which were necessary to any reversal of summary judgment on its non-disclosure claims. Further, Creech asks this Court to ignore the fact that, even if it had properly preserved and raised relevant issues for appeal, it was still proper for the Court of Appeals to affirm summary judgment on its non-disclosure claims, because Creech did not (and could not) present any affirmative evidence that Brown acquired any protected “confidential” or “proprietary” information during his employment with Creech. In other words, the result – summary judgment – is the correct one, and any error alleged by Creech herein, if any is found, is harmless.

In sum, allowing Creech to now proceed on its non-disclosure claims would be contrary to Kentucky law and rules of civil procedure, and to reverse summary judgment on such claims would also be contrary to the record.

A. Creech failed to Preserve Alleged Errors Associated with Summary Judgment on its Non-Disclosure Claims.

A question not raised or adjudicated below may not be considered on appeal. Combs v. Knott County Fiscal Court, 141 S.W.2d 859 (Ky. 1940); Benefit Ass’n of Ry. Employees v. Secrest, 39 S.W.2d 682, 687 (Ky. 1931); Hutchings v. Louisville Trust Co., 276 S.W.2d 461, 466 (Ky. 1955) (a “question of law which is not presented to or passed upon by the trial court cannot be raised here for the first time.”); Com. Trans. Cab., Bureau of Hwys. v. Roof, 913 S.W.2d 322, 324 (Ky. 1996) (refusing to allow agency to challenge duty element of negligence for first time on appeal). This rule of law specifically “applies to bar a party from challenging a necessary element of a cause of action for the first time on appeal”. Fischer v. Fischer, 348 S.W.3d 582, 588-89 (Ky. 2011) (*citing Roof* at 324).

⁴ For clarification, this reference is to Creech’s appellate brief to the Court of Appeals following summary judgment.

Further, in Fischer, this Court addressed the kind of specificity required to preserve an argument for appeal. Therein, John Fischer moved for a directed verdict, arguing that there was no valid agreement between the parties because he made a gratuitous promise, or in other words, the other party gave no valid consideration. Fisher at 586-87. Said motion was denied. The Court of Appeals thereafter reversed, holding that the agreement failed because John Fischer himself, not the other party, never gave valid consideration for the agreement. Id. The Court of Appeals reached its decision to reverse “in a circuitous fashion . . . determin[ing] that while [appellant] had not preserved this issue for appeal, it nonetheless had to consider the issue because [he] had argued generally that the contract was invalid and thus preserved any issue going to the validity of the contract”. Id. at 586-87. This Court then granted discretionary review and reversed, holding that the relevant argument was not properly preserved for appeal. This Court explained that “a trial court should at least be given reasons why there is lack of consideration if a movant wishes to preserve the issue for appellate review”. Id. at 588. (“This analysis applies equally where a party raised an issue to the trial court that differs substantially from the later raised on appeal”).

The analysis in Fischer, and the specificity required therein, is applicable to this case. Creech may not present new defenses to the dismissal of its non-disclosure claims, which were not specifically and precisely raised and preserved below. More specifically, Creech may not wait until it files its Reply brief on appeal to articulate support for a necessary element – that Brown acquired any protected, “confidential” or “proprietary,” information while employed by Creech -- of its claims. Such arguments and evidence, if any, must be raised and preserved in the trial court and then on appeal.

1. **Distinct Claims.** Creech's assertion that allegations related to breach of the non-disclosure provision are not separate claims is disingenuous. Creech specifically amended its original Complaint to include violations of the non-disclosure provision. It moved to file its Amended Complaint shortly after the Circuit Court originally opined that it did not "believe this is the type of case where the court can infer and make a ruling as to what the territory is," attempting to ensure that even if the non-compete provision was unenforceable, its new non-disclosure claims may survive. (RA 85, Trial Court hearing, 22/9/09/CD/37 at 10:40:30). More specifically, Creech's Amended Complaint added allegations at ¶9, that the COI Agreement prohibited "disclosure of proprietary information," and also amended Count II to include new allegations that Brown breached his "duty not to disclose proprietary information". Counts III (Intentional Interference with Contract) and IV (Aiding and Abetting breach of Contract) were also amended to allege that Brown and Standlee violated the non-disclosure provision.

Creech's stylistic choice to couch these allegations under the same headings ("Count II, Count III, etc.") does not alter the fact that they are distinct claims, with distinct elements of proof and distinct calculations of damages. For example, claims related to breach of the non-disclosure provision require, at least, proof that the contract is valid, proof that Brown acquired protected "proprietary" information that belonged to Creech, and proof that Brown disclosed that information. By contrast, claims related to breach of the non-competition provision require, at least, proof that the non-competition provision is not an unreasonable restraint of trade, proof of sufficient consideration to support an employer-employee non-compete agreement, and proof that Brown's new employment with Standlee was within the scope of the non-compete agreement provision.

Including alleged breaches of the non-disclosure provisions within existing counts of its original Complaint does not excuse Creech from defending its non-disclosure claims against Appellees' properly supported summary judgment motions, nor does it allow Creech to preserve specific and dispositive issues that are relevant only to its non-disclosure claims, by veiling them in generalized and generic objections.

As each claim has distinct elements and damages, it was important for Brown and Standlee, the moving parties, to present their grounds and support for summary judgment on each individual claim to the trial court. They did just that, and each claim was dismissed. (RA 641-688, 698-712, 783-834; **App. Items 7, 8, 9 and 10**). In fact, they specifically cited Progress Laundry Co., v. Hamilton, 270 S.W.834 (Ky. 1925), discussed in more detail below, in support of their position that Brown never received any protected, "confidential" or "proprietary" information, an essential element of Creech's non-disclosure claims. (RA 698-712; **App. Item 8**). It was equally important that Creech raise each defense it wished to assert in opposition to summary judgment, and that it respond by providing some affirmative evidence showing why it should be allowed to move forward on each of its claims.⁵ Kentucky has long recognized this burden. In fact, in order to defeat a properly supported motion for summary judgment, Creech was required to (a) present at least some affirmative evidence to show that there are remaining issues of material fact relevant to all essential elements of each of its claims, including its non-

⁵ In fact, it is not at all uncommon for summary judgment to be addressed claim-by-claim. Beasley v. Trontz, 671 S.W.2d 891 (Ky. App. 1954) (granting summary judgment on one count of the Complaint only); Baxter v. AHS Samaritan Hosp., LLC, 328 S.W.3d 687 (Ky. App. 2010) (affirming the trial court's grant of summary judgment on wrongful death claim only). Furthermore, partial summary judgment is frequently granted on certain claims and not others, or on certain elements of a distinct claim. Melton v. Melton, 221 S.W.3d 391, 392 (affirming trial court's grant of partial summary judgment on the enforceability of one clause of a claim, specifically that a clause within a document did not constitute an unreasonable restriction on alienation of property); Wilson v. Southward Inv. Co. No. 1, 675 S.W.2d 10 (Ky. App. 1984) ("It is entirely proper for the trial court to enter a summary judgment on part of the questions presented, and reserve for trial any remaining factual issue").

disclosure claims. Steelvest, Inc. v. Scansteel Service Ctr., 807 S.W.2d 476 (Ky. 1991) (“a party opposing a properly supported summary judgment motion cannot defeat it without presenting at least some affirmative evidence showing that there is a genuine issue of material fact for trial.”) (*citing Gullett v. McCormick*, 421 S.W.2d 352 (Ky. 1967); Continental Casualty Company, 281 S.W.2d 914 (Ky. 1955)). Creech’s citations to cases that address “issues” or “arguments” or “errors” on appeal does not alter this burden.

Similarly, in order to preserve its right to appeal summary judgment on each dismissed claim, Creech was required to present argument refuting each of Brown and Standlee’s grounds for dismissal of each claim. Including, at least, each ground upon which the trial court may have based its ruling. The bases of the trial court’s dismissal of Creech’s non-disclosure claims are discussed in more detail below.

In this case, despite written briefs and a full hearing on the record, Creech failed to respond to Brown and Creech’s Motion for summary judgment on its non-disclosure claims, choosing instead, only to present only those defenses that were relevant the non-compete provision. (RA 717-780, **App. Items 11 and 12**). As discussed in more detail below, Creech failed to address, in any detail, whether and why its claims that Brown breached the non-disclosure provision should not be dismissed. As discussed in more detail below, it also specifically failed to specifically respond to Brown and Standlee’s arguments that it could not prove a crucial element of its non-disclosure claims.

2. Creech Failed to Properly Preserve Key Issues, Arguments and/or Errors for Appeal, which Regardless of its General Objections, Precludes Reversal of Summary Judgment on its Claims that Brown Breached the Non-Disclosure Provision of the COI Agreement.

Summary Judgment on Creech’s non-disclosure claims was based upon the arguments set forth by Brown and Standlee in support of their Motions for Summary Judgment. If a trial court

does not set out its specific ground for granting summary judgment on a claim, it is appropriate to presume that the court did so for the reasons set out in the summary judgment motion. Peoples Bank of N. Ky, Inc. v. Crowe Chizek & Co. LLC, 277 S.W.3d 255, 260 (Ky. Ct. App. 2008). Creech's attempt to persuade this Court that the summary judgment order in this case was based solely upon the binding nature of the CTA 65.07 Order, ignores the actual arguments set forth in the Motions for Summary Judgment and Replies filed by Brown and Standlee.

Yes, Brown and Standlee argued that the Circuit Court should⁶ follow the CTA 65.07 Order, because it set forth clear rulings of law, including that "the type of information which Creech alleges Brown disclosed, was not actually proprietary". However, Appellees were extremely clear that entitlement to summary judgment was not premised upon the binding nature of the CTA 65.07 Order. (RA 783-788; App. Item 9). In fact, Standlee clarified in its Reply as follows:

Standlee has never contended that the Order of the Court of Appeals is binding on this Court as a final statement of the law of this case, and Standlee fully recognizes that this Court certainly retains the authority to make rulings inconsistent with that Order. But the more appropriate question here is "Should it do so?", and that question is best answered by reviewing the Order itself.

Accordingly, while this Court certainly retains the power to make Standlee go through the exercise of once again addressing the enforceability of the Conflicts of Interest Statement before the Court of Appeals, in light of that Court's instructive analysis of the exact same question, there is no reason why this Court should do so. Progress Laundry Co. v. Hamilton, 270 S.W. 834, 837 (Ky. 1925).

(RA 783-788; App. Item 9, p. 5).

⁶ Brown and Standlee argued that the CTA 65.07 Order was either binding or persuasive authority on the rulings of law contained therein. (RA 641-688, 698-712, 783-834; App. Items 7, 8, 9 and 10).

They also set forth other, equal but more precise, bases for summary judgment on Creech's non-disclosure claims. Specifically, Brown and Standlee argued that summary judgment was appropriate in this case because, it would be impossible for Creech to prove that Brown received protected, "confidential" or "proprietary," information through his employment with Creech.⁷ (RA 641-688, 698-712, 783-834; App. Items 7, 8, 9 and 10). This argument warranted a response from Creech sufficient to overcome summary judgment, or at least, to preserve its defenses and related errors for appeal. However, despite ample opportunity to respond in writing and at an hearing, Creech chose to only address arguments that the CR 65.07 Order was binding. Thus, Creech failed to address any of Brown and Standlee's arguments that they were entitled to summary judgment because Brown never received protected information. (RA 717-780, App. Items 11 and 12; 835, App. Item 5). Specifically, Creech failed preserve any legitimate argument that it met its burden of presenting at least some affirmative evidence that it Brown acquired legitimately "confidential" or "proprietary" information during his employ. (RA 717-780; 835); *See Steelvest, Inc. v. Scansteel Service Ctr.*, 807 S.W.2d 476 (Ky. 1991). Preservation and appeal of that specific issue was necessary to any possible reversal of summary on Creech's non-disclosure claims.

Creech's general arguments that the CTA 65.07 Order was not binding were insufficient to preserve more specific issues for appeal. As previously stated, this court has long maintained

⁷ Brown specifically alleged in its Motion and Reply that summary judgment was appropriate because: (1) there is no information in the record, save Plaintiff's affidavit, which tends to establish that the information allegedly used by Brown is, in fact, confidential and/or proprietary, which are legal terms and (2) that none of the information which Creech alleges Brown disclosed is actually proprietary; not pricing information, not horse farm lists, not hay supplier information, not farm manager's names, not cell phone numbers. (Reply; RA 783-834). Brown and Standlee also argued that the COI Agreement lacked consideration. Even Creech's response to that basis for summary judgment cited only to cases that discussed adequate consideration requirements for non-compete agreements.

that “[i]t goes without saying that errors to be considered for appellate review must be precisely preserved and identified in the lower court. Fischer v. Fischer, 348 S.W.3d 582, 588-89 (Ky. 2011); Skaggs v. Assad, By and Through Assad, 712 S.W.2d 947 (Ky. 1986) (*quoting* Combs v. Knott County Fiscal Court, 141 S.W.2d 859 (Ky. 1940)); See also, Schmidt v. Leppert, 214 S.W.3d 309 (Ky. 2007). Fischer at 588-89. Even if Creech were successful in persuading an appellate court that the trial court erred in holding that the CTA 65.07 Order was binding, that error is necessarily harmless because summary judgment was still appropriate on its non-disclosure claims, based upon other properly supported bases. In other words, because Creech failed to present any affirmative evidence that Brown received protected information (and that issue was not preserved for appeal), then such error is harmless.

Creech’s general argument that summary judgment was premature is also equally insufficient. Fischer 588-89. In its Appellant Brief, Creech tries to re-articulate this general objection by asserting that the reason it was entitled to more discovery from Brown and Standlee was to determine whether Brown ever obtained protected, “confidential” or “proprietary,” information. However, this argument lacks merit. The only discovery it sought from Brown and Standlee was related to what information may have been disclosed by Brown, an irrelevant inquiry without proof that he ever acquired protected information. (RA 689-690). Of course, all information about what information Brown acquired from Creech is, and always has been, within Creech’s knowledge and possession. Allowing general arguments of prematurity -- without specifics regarding why additional discovery will allow an opponent to later prevail on each essential element of its claim(s) -- to preserve challenges to all necessary elements of all claims, is contrary to Kentucky law, and opens the floodgates to consideration of unpreserved arguments in nearly every case.

B. Creech Failed to Raise Issues Related to its Claims that Brown Breached the Non-Disclosure Provision in its Pre-Hearing Statement or in its Appellate Brief.

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